DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CV-872



Clerk of the Court Received 06/20/2024 05:31 PM

### LYNNE M. SCHWARTZ SPECIAL NEEDS TRUST, et al.

Appellants

v.

PNC BANK, N.A., et al.

Appellees

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court

# **APPELLANTS' BRIEF**

Frederic W. Schwartz, Jr. 197137 700 12<sup>th</sup> Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, D.C. 20005 202 463-0880 FWS888@aol.com

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Does Defendants' willful four-year temporary conversion of the right of Appellants to receive \$12,000.00 by wrongfully and purposefully concealing that right and refusing to acknowledge its existence give rise to a valid cause of action?

2. Why?

3. Does the *de novo* and abuse of discretion findings of this Court that rulings of the Superior Court were in error or otherwise improper vacate the dismissal of those Counts and require a remand?

4. Is an individual who is both an attorney and an agent for an organization disqualified from subscribing to an affidavit and otherwise testifying to events of which he has personal knowledge under the rule that an attorney's statements are not considered evidence?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL CONTEXT

This Statement of Facts is adopted primarily from those facts considered germane by the Superior Court in her relevant Orders. While the facts are generally agreed to little else is. There are six Appellants: the Lynne M. Schwartz Special Needs Trust; the Lynne M. Schwartz Discretionary Trust; the Estate of Lynne M. Schwartz (in formation); the Estate of Frances A. Schwartz, Deceased; Johanna Schwartz; and the International Internship Program, Inc. The common thread running through each is that Frederic W. Schwartz, Jr., is the attorney and or agent for each in different capacities.

1

There are two active Appellees: PNC Bank, N.A. and PNC Financial Services Group, Inc., who are addressed collectively as "PNC" in this brief.<sup>1</sup>

While an action involving multiple plaintiffs and multiple defendants is not unusual this case is complicated because the claim of Johanna Schwartz and the claim of the International Internship Program, Inc. are independent of the claims of the other Appellants and must be addressed separately although the Superior Court sometimes utilized blanket grounds for dismissing all the Appellants' specified claims. To facilitate this Court's review of those claims relating to the most significant (and interesting) element of the appeal, a claimed \$12,000.00 "not authorized" cashier's check which was drawn on PNC, requested by PNC, dishonored by PNC, destroyed by PNC, and after a number of years determined to have been escheated to the District of Columbia by PNC.

Little by little the Superior Court whittled away the Appellants' claims and the entire case was dismissed on September 20, 2023. The pertinent facts and the appropriate standard of review are addressed along with the relevant segment of the argument. The Appellants propounded different sets of facts claiming different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Along with the two identified Appellees there were two other "Doe" Defendants who were employed by PNC Bank and who were involved with the questioned transactions. PNC Bank claims it cannot identify these individuals as discussed below. PNC's Greater Washington Regional President was named and served but did not respond. He was dismissed with the acquiesce of the Appellants after Appellants' counsel discussed the matter with Defendants' counsel.

damages under differing theories. All maintained different relationship with PNC. There was one Superior Court Judge who, piece by piece, dismantled Appellants' causes of action. In an effort to minimize confusion the Superior Court's errors will be addresses chronologically, substantively and separately, Order by Order , as applied to each Appellant.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

By the nature and structure of the Argument a Summary would merely confuse. Consequently this Summary of Argument will address those legal principles employed throughout more as an advance warning than a guide.

While the Appellees legitimately, although imperfectly, escheated a \$12,000.00 cashiers check they wrongfully and purposefully secreted that fact and misled the Appellants for four years. In doing so they retained and presumably destroyed the actual cashier's check itself after its presentation. This resulted in a temporary conversion for which the Restatement 2d of Torts authorized a cause of action and provided a remedy. The process by which Appellees did so resulted in a breach of Appellees' fiduciary and contractual responsibilities, particularly that of good faith and fair dealings. Similarly the false representations which Appellees publically made, particularly in relation to their honesty, violated the District of Columbia consumer protection laws.

3

The Superior Court issued a series of Orders favoring the Appellees which erroneously impeded the Appellants' efforts to successfully litigate the matter. She granted in substantial part Appellees' Rule 12(b(6) Motion to Dismiss; denied Appellants' motion to require a responsive Answer; denied Appellants' Motion to Compel responses to the two interrogatories propounded; denied Appellants' Motion to Amend and enlarge discovery after the escheatment was eventually revealed by Appellees, and eventually granted summary judgment against all Appellants for a grab bag of erroneous reasons to be discussed below.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. The claimed \$12,000.00 "not authorized" cashier's check

#### A. Facts

On April 14, 2014 PNC issued a \$12,000.00 cashier's check as directed by the LMS Special Needs Trust payable to Frances Schwartz. <sup>2</sup> (Photocopy attached to Complaint and at App. 377 Frances Schwartz was the beneficiary of the Frederic W. Schwartz Residual Trust which was under the absolute management and control of PNC and which dissolved on her death. On or about April 12, 2019, Frederic Schwartz, Jr., in his representative capacity, was told by a senior representative of PNC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Frances Schwartz had died approximately a year earlier on May 27, 2013, and the transfer of funds was likely related to her Estate expenses or the termination of the PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.'s money management responsibilities for bad behavior. Neither the record nor counsel's recollection provide an explanation.

that he had consulted with more senior PNC employees and determined that the appropriate method to deposit the cashier's check was to endorse it as Frederic W. Schwartz, Jr., executor, and to make it payable to the LMS Discretionary Trust.

On or about April 15, 2019 PNC refused to honor the cashier's check, retained it, and issued instead a photocopy of the cashier's check which was prominently stamped "NOT AUTHORIZED" and which set out for the reason it was dishonored the phrase "RETURN REASON-Q NOT AUTHORIZED." <sup>3</sup> Since PNC was the payor its refusal to honor the cashier's check coupled with the notice to all potential holders in due course that the cashier's check was not authorized stripped the photocopy of any value it might have had. *Bollt v. Morgenstein*, 81 A.2d 656, 657 D.C. 1951 (To be a holder in due course party "must have taken the check in good faith and for value and that at the time it was negotiated to him he had no notice of any infirmity in the instrument or defect in the title of the person negotiating it to him.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The Oxford English Dictionary traces the term "unauthorized" to R. Hooker, *Of Lawes of Ecclesiasticall Politie* v. lxii. 147 (1597) ("The exercise of unauthorized jurisdiction") and although it appears in OED's current tabulation as typically occurring about three times per million words in modern written English its meaning has remained the same. Here is an edited list of synonyms courtesy of merriam-webster.com: improper, illicit, illegal, unlawful, inappropriate, unacceptable, illegitimate, prohibited, forbidden, impermissible, outlawed, barred, objectionable, refused, rejected, disallowed, revoked, stopped, disapproved, blocked, and ruled out.

PNC refused to provide a written explanation-or for that matter any

explanation-for why the cashier's check was "not authorized" and therefore not

honored. Consequently on April 7, 2022 PNC was sued.

#### B. The 12(b)(6) dismissal was error.

As Judge Diehl put it in Holmes v. District of Columbia, 267 A.3d 1028, 1032

(D.C. 2022):

We review the "dismissal of a claim pursuant to a 12(b)(6) motion de novo, 'presuming the complaint's factual allegations to be true and construing them in the light most favorable to [the plaintiff]."' *Calomiris v. Calomiris*, 3 A.3d 1186, 1190 (D.C. 2010) (quoting *Bleck v. Power*, 955 A.2d 712, 715 (D.C. 2008)). "To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must set forth sufficient facts to establish the elements of a legally cognizable claim." *Woods v. District of Columbia*, 63 A.3d 551, 552-53 (D.C. 2013). While this pleading standard requires a plaintiff to allege "more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusation," it "does not require 'detailed factual allegations.'" *Potomac Dev. Corp. v. District of Columbia*, 28 A.3d 531, 544 (D.C. 2011) (quoting *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)).

Further:

The District is a notice pleading jurisdiction and "under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 8 (a) and (e), a complaint is sufficient so long as it fairly puts the defendant on notice of the claim against him." *Scott v. District of Columbia*, 493 A.2d 319, 323 (D.C. 1985) (citation omitted). Furthermore, "[a] complaint should not be dismissed because the court doubts that a plaintiff will prevail on a claim." *Duncan v. Children's Nat'l Med. Ctr.*, 702 A.2d 207, 210 (D.C. 1997) (citation omitted). Nor should a complaint be dismissed under Rule 12 (b)(6) on the ground that no "evidence [has] been offered by Plaintiffs" since we "take the facts alleged in the complaint as true,"*Casco Marina Dev.,L.L.C.,supra*,834 A.2d at 81 (cit. omitted), and the presentation of evidence to counter a Rule 12 (b)(6) motion is not required.*Sarete, Inc. v. 1344 U St. Ltd. P'ship*, 871 A.2d 480, 497 (D.C. 2005)

And again:

"Whether the trial court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law which this court reviews *de novo*." We also review "a dismissal for failure to state a claim de novo." "[W]e accept the allegations of the complaint as true, and construe all facts and inferences in favor of the plaintiff." "Because '[o]ur rules reject the approach that pleading is a game of skill in which one misstep . . . may be decisive to the outcome' and 'manifest a preference for resolution of disputes on the merits, not on technicalities of pleading,' we construe pleadings 'as to do substantial justice."" "The only issue on review of a dismissal made pursuant to Rule 12 (b)(6) is the legal sufficiency of the complaint"; and "a complaint should not be dismissed because a court does not believe that a plaintiff will prevail on [his] claim." "Indeed it may appear on the face of the pleadings that a recovery is very remote and unlikely but that is not the test." *Grayson v. AT&T Corp.*, 15 A.3d 219, 228 (D.C. 2011)

Thus the requirements to uphold a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal are stringent in light of the relatively liberal requirements of Rule 8 and the relatively lenient requirements of Rule 12(b)(6). In short, the Superior Court judge is not a prognosticator, but rather—at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage--simply a judge of fair or foul.

## C. Standard of review.

This Court's review of both an order granting a motion to dismiss and an order granting summary judgment is *de novo*. *Gordon v. Dist. of Columbia*, 309 A.3d 543, 551-552 (D.C. 2024) *See also Williams v. District of Columbia*, 9 A.3d 484, 488 (D.C. 2010); *Kotsch v. District of Columbia*, 924 A.2d 1040, 1044 (D.C. 2007). The standard of review for a Superior Court Order denying discovery and a motion to amend is abuse of discretion.

#### D. Dismissal of this part of the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) was in error.

On June 22, 2022 Defendants filed their obligatory Rule 26(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss. The Superior Court granted it in part and denied it in part. App. 43 The Superior Court's partial dismissal was in error despite her application of the more-orless appropriate standard of review described above.

#### **Fiduciary Duties**

The Superior Court dismissed Count 65 which claimed Breach of Fiduciary Duty/Breach of Delegated Fiduciary Duty/ Breach of Fiduciary Duty of a Trust Protector.<sup>4</sup> In doing so the Superior Court relied primarily on and quoted from *Geiger* v. Crestar Bank, 778 A.2d 1085, 1089 (D.C. 2001) where this Court held "[t]he bank does not take on fiduciary duties *simply* because the bank established an account on behalf of a customer who is acting as a fiduciary. Instead, the relationship and its depositor is purely contractual." (Emphasis supplied.) In this regard this Court relied on Miller v. American National Bank 4 F.3d 518 (7th Cir.) which, after some misgivings and after a consideration of alternatives, determined it was bound by Illinois law to the same effect as the *Geiger* holding. This holding was correct because there was no transactional fiduciary relationship established between the trust beneficiary and the bank. The transaction was solely between the trustee as a depositor and the bank using funds entrusted to the trustee but were no different than they would have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The nomenclature is in flux; the duty is not.

been if they were the proceeds of a very good day at the track. *Geiger* said no different:

We detect no facts in this case detailing a history of interaction between Mr. Geiger and Crestar which extended their relationship beyond the provisions of the account agreement. On the contrary, Mr. Geiger's deposition shows virtually no interaction between him and the Bank.

Under the account agreement, Crestar readily agreed that, technically, an unauthorized transfer had occurred, and stated its readiness to credit Mr. Geiger's account, provided that he take certain action, including submitting an appropriate affidavit, which Crestar had a right to request under the account agreement. By declining to submit the affidavit, Mr. Geiger, rather than Crestar, breached the account agreement. Thus, he cannot now complain that the Quintel electronic debits were not recredited to the account. *Geiger, supra* at 1095

*Geiger* is fact-bound however. It, and the Superior Court here, is correct that a bank takes on no special duties or responsibilities merely because the *depositor* has taken on special duties or responsibilities as discussed above. But that does not preclude the existence of fiduciary duties owed to the *depositor* by the bank. The underlying relationship between a depositor and a depository is grounded in contract as the Superior Court recognized. But all relationships which involve the trust of one party in another also create a fiduciary duty which arises not only from the terms of the contract (if there is one), but also by statute or other judicial imposition as well as by the nature of the relationship itself. All three exist in parallel in all cases.

The Superior Court failed to note the general nature of a fiduciary duty. Thus a fiduciary duty can arise by statute. *See, e.g.,* § 47-2853.195 (Fiduciary duties of a property manager). It can also arise by contract. It can arise by the nature of the

general responsibility undertaken (*E.g.* Escrow agents owe a fiduciary duty of care to both buyer and seller in a real estate transaction. *Wagman v. Lee, 457* A.2d 401, 405 (D.C. 1983). This includes "a duty of good faith and candor in affairs connected with the undertaking, including the duty to disclose to the principal 'all matters coming to [the agent's] notice or knowledge concerning the subject [] of the agency, which it is material for the principal to know for his protection or guidance." *Aronoff v. Lenkin Co.*, 618 A.2d 669, 687 (D.C. 1992). It can even arise from the non-contractual acts of a housing cooperative board and its current members, but not its past members. *Watergate West, Inc. v. Barclays Bank*, S.A., 759 A.2d 169, 176 (D.C. 2000). In partial summary, one party to a transaction owes to a justifiably relying second party a duty not to take advantage of their relationship to the detriment of the justifiably trusting second party.

If purely contractual *see* § 28:1–304 ("Every contract or duty within [the Uniform Commercial Code] imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance and enforcement."); *See also* D.C. U.C.C. § 1-103(b)(Unless displaced by the particular provisions of [the Uniform Commercial Code], the principles of law and equity, including the law merchant and the law relative to capacity to contract, principal and agent, estoppel, fraud, misrepresentation, duress, coercion, mistake, bankruptcy, and other validating or invalidating cause supplement its provisions.)

10

In her holding here the Superior Court rejected Mobilizegreen, Inc. v. Cmty.

Found., 267 A.3d 1019, 1026 D.C. 2022) advanced by the Appellants, which held:

When parties have contracted with one another, the existence of a fiduciary relationship "depend[s] on whether the parties, through the past history of the relationship and their conduct, had extended the relationship beyond the limits of the contractual obligations." *Geiger*, 778 A.2d at 1095 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); see also *Democracy Partners v. Project Veritas Action Fund*, 453 F. Supp. 3d 261, 279 (D.D.C. 2020) (courts "have traditionally looked for [] a 'special confidential relationship' that transcends an ordinary business transaction") (collecting cases).

Thus to hold there is no fiduciary duty between the depositor and the bank is simply wrong. It is true that there is nothing in the contractual agreement between the parties that prohibits the bank, after funds have been entrusted to it, from stealing those funds, refusing to explain why, and destroying the indicia of the deposit. That was the allegation here. Similarly there is no requirement in civil law and statute which precludes similar events.<sup>5</sup> For the bank to do so, however, is a violation of the bank's fiduciary duty.

In any event the facts here demonstrate that controlling law is set out in *Mobilizegreen* not *Geiger*. The relationship here was not that of a bank and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Criminal law differs, but that remedy lies in the D.C. Code § 22-3211 (a) - (b) (2001) which states, in pertinent part:

<sup>(</sup>a) For the purpose of this section, the term "wrongfully obtains or uses" means: (1) taking or exercising control over property; (2) making an *unauthorized* use, disposition, or transfer of an interest in or possession of property; or (3) obtaining property by trick, false pretense, false token, tampering, or deception. The term "wrongfully obtains or uses" includes conduct previously known as larceny, larceny by trick, larceny by trust, embezzlement, and false pretenses. *Dobyns v. United States*, 30 A.3d 155, 158 n.3 (D.C. 2011) (Emphasis supplied to note that the bank sought to charge the depositor with this offense.)

depositor. As alleged, the corpus comprising the Lynne M. Schwartz Special Needs Trust and the Lynne M. Schwartz Discretionary Trust was transferred years before to Assets Management Group (AMG), a division of PNC Financial Services Group, Inc., a money manager which maintained full and absolute control over each trust as pled. PNC Bank, N.A., a bank in the *Geiger* sense, was a separate entity from PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. Thus, the guiding principal is clear that AMG is not and was not a bank, but rather a financial advisor and manager.

No matter how you slice it there was a violation of a fiduciary duty when PNC retained \$12,000.00 of Appellants' funds without right, explanation or excuse. *Cap. River Enters., LLC v. Abod*, 301 A.3d 1234, 1242 (D.C. 2023)

# A breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealings was sufficiently plead and should not have been dismissed.

The Superior Court concluded as well that there was not a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealings. This was error, and particularly so at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage. The implied duty of good faith and fair dealings as discussed above imposes an obligation on a contracting party not to "evade[] the spirit of the contract, willfully render[] imperfect performance, or interfere[] with performance by the other party," *Allworth v. Howard Univ.*, 890 A.2d 194, 201 (D.C. 2006) (*quoting Paul v. Howard Univ.*, 754 A.2d 297, 310 (D.C. 2000)) as set out in *Sibley v. St. Albans Sch*, 134 A.3d 789, 806 (D.C. 2016). Therefore we start with the premise that all contracts incorporate the requirement

of good faith and fair dealings between the parties. The Complaint must, however,

contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true as one must in a Rule 12(b)(6)

context, to state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face. Chief Judge Blackburne-

Rigsby recently reiterated the requirement this way:

"While legal conclusions can provide the framework of a complaint, they must be supported by factual allegations," *Potomac Dev. Corp. v. District of Columbia*, 28 A.3d 531 (D.C. 2011) (quoting *Iqbal*, 550 U.S. at 678-79), that allow the court to draw a reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged. *Comer*, 108 A.3d at 371. *Morris v. District of Columbia*, No. 21-CV-0237, Slip. Op at 7 (March 18 2024)

So what were the relevant factual allegations contained in the Complaint but apparently

overlooked by the Superior Court after her review? As the Superior Court put it:

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