No. 23-CV-872



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 08/16/2024 11:24 PM Filed 08/16/2024 11:24 PM

LYNNE M. SCHWARTZ SPECIAL NEEDS TRUST, et al., APPELLANTS,

V.

PNC BANK, N.A., *et al.*, APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDERS OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

APPELLEES' BRIEF

Respectfully submitted, Esther Haya Petrikovsky (DC Bar No. 90005261) **Reed Smith LLP** 1301 K Street NW Suite 1000, East Tower Washington, DC 20005 (202) 414-9200 epetrikovsky@reedsmith.com Counsel for Appellees

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

check funds. They have not and cannot do so, however, because PNC did not unlawfully exercise ownership or control over the funds, but instead, it guaranteed to draw from its funds if and when Frances Schwartz, as payee, decided to cash or deposit the check. However, when the check was not negotiated for over three years, PNC properly and lawfully escheated the funds to the District of Columbia.

Initially, Appellants offer no legal authority for their contention that a "temporary conversion" existed "from April 15, 2019 when the \$12,000.00 cashier's check was dishonored as unauthorized until May 26, 2023 when PNC provided evidence to Appellants' counsel that [] [PNC] had escheated [the] \$12,000.00 to the District." Notably, under Appellants' theory, any bank or financial institution would be subject to liability for conversion every time money is escheated to the state. Clearly, the law does not support or intend such an absurd result. In any event, as the Superior Court aptly explained:

Here, it is undisputed that Frederic Schwartz held the cashier's check in excess of three years, and thus between April 14, 2015 and October 25, 2018, he had the right to retrieve the funds. While the funds were unavailable from Defendants after October 25, 2018, Defendants did not maintain control or dominion over the funds because the funds escheated to the District of Columbia, and thus Defendants did not deny or repudiate Plaintiffs' rights to the funds.

App., p. 22. Appellants' purported claim for relief after October 25, 2018, when PNC no longer held the funds, is wholly without merit.

Similarly, Appellants fail to explain how (or provide support for) their contention that an alleged deviation in providing notice of the escheat somehow supports their conversion claim. This argument is flawed for several reasons. First, PNC in fact complied with the Unclaimed Property Act, which requires, in relevant part, that "the holder of property presumed abandoned shall send to the *apparent owner*" notice that the property will escheat to the District of Columbia "*if* the holder has in its records *an address for the apparent owner* which the holder's records do not disclose to be invalid[.]" D.C. Code § 41-155.01(a)(1) (emphasis added). The Declaration of Ms. Loperfito provided undisputed evidence of compliance.

Appellants' attempt to discredit the search is belied by the record and legally deficient. Regarding the "check issued by a Frances Schwartz with an address in Chicago," as counsel for Appellants well knows but deceitfully omits, the check was *produced by Appellants* in response to discovery requests from PNC. For Appellants to suggest that the personal check of Frances Schwartz, who had a Chicago address, payable from an account held at Delaware Place Bank, located in Chicago, and dated May 28, 2014, came from PNC's records, or was otherwise contained therein at the time PNC searched for an address for "Frances Schwartz" is absurd and disingenuous. Moreover, Appellants offered no evidence that Frances Schwartz was ever an account holder at PNC, such that it may have in its records

"an address for the *apparent owner* which the holder's records do not disclose to be invalid[.]" D.C. Code § 41-155.01(a)(1) (emphasis added).

Regarding a search for "the trust itself," Appellants' reliance on a 2017 tax information statement for the LMS Special Needs Trust Investment Management Account, ending in 5573, which "indicated that Frederic Schwartz was the trustee" is similarly misleading. The LMS Special Needs Trust Investment Management Account ending in 5573 has nothing to do with the conversion claim in this case, because the \$12,000 cashier's check funds came from an LMS Special Needs Trust premium money market account ending in 2021. In any event, once the funds were withdrawn from the LMS Special Needs Trust premium money market account, as remitter of the cashier's check, the LMS Special Needs Trust was no longer an "owner" or "apparent owner" of the \$12,000 as a matter of law, and Plaintiffs provide no legal support to the contrary.

In sum, PNC in fact complied with the Unclaimed Property Act, and whether their compliance was reasonable does not create a question of fact for the conversion claim, which is an intentional tort and, as such, the issue is one of intent and not reasonableness. *See* App., p. 23. Again, as the Superior Court summarized, "the undisputed facts demonstrate that PNC's control of the funds was lawful, and that PNC did not deny [Appellants] of any rights to the funds. *Id*. Finally, Appellants' argument—again without legal support—that PNC should be held liable for conversion for indicating *on a copy* of the cashier's check that it was "not unauthorized" similarly fails. Appellants offer no support other than their subject belief that "[t]he appropriate designation [] would have been 'escheated'." Appellants' Br., p. 42. In any event, as explained by the Superior Court in rejecting this argument,

PNC Bank did not assume unlawful possession or ownership of the 12,000 check. It undisputed that Frederic Schwartz voluntarily relinquished the actual check to PNC, and thus PNC's control of the check cannot be deemed unlawful. Def. SMF ¶ 8. Moreover, there are no facts to support that PNC unlawfully exercised control of the funds that were related to the check.

App., p. 23. Along these lines, there is no dispute that Frederic Schwartz, Jr., as trustee, held onto the cashier's check in excess of three years—i.e., from its issuance on April 14, 2015, to his attempted deposit on April 12, 2019. In the interim, the cash funds escheated to the District of Columbia in accordance with the Unclaimed Property Act. Once the funds were properly escheated to the District of Columbia, the cashier's check and/or any copy thereof became valueless as a matter of law, and Appellants provide so support to the contrary. Accordingly, the Superior Court committed no error by granting PNC's motion for summary judgment on the claim for conversion. This Court should affirm.

2. <u>The Superior Court Did Not Err In Granting Summary</u> <u>Judgment On The Breach Of Contract Claim Of Johanna</u> <u>Schwartz</u>

"To prevail on a claim of breach of contract, a party must establish (1) a valid contract between the parties; (2) an obligation or duty arising out of the contract; (3) a breach of that duty; and (4) damages caused by the breach." *Tsintolas Realty Co. v. Mendez*, 984 A.2d 181, 187 (D.C. 2009) (citation omitted). The statute of limitations for breach of contract, express or implied, is three years. *See* D.C. Code § 12-301(7). "A cause of action for breach of contract accrues, and the statute of limitations begins to run, at the time of the breach." *Van Yerrell v. EMJ Realty Co.*, 281 A.3d 594, 599 (D.C. 2022) (citation omitted). "Under the 'discovery rule,' however, a breach of contract claim does not accrue, and the statute of limitations period does not begin to run, until the plaintiff knows, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should know, of the injury." *Id.* (citation omitted).

The Superior Court granted summary judgment because it determined that the statute of limitations had expired and, on the merits, Appellants failed to present any evidence to establish the elements for Johanna Schwartz's breach of contract claim. In analyzing the statute of limitations, the Superior Court found that the statute began to run three years after Johanna Schwartz knew "or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should [have] known" of a new service charge—or the alleged breach—i.e., on or before she executed the Power of Attorney on July 13, 2017 in order to close the account. App., pp. 23-26. Recognizing that the numerous Administrative Orders issued by the Chief Judges of the Superior Court for the District of Columbia

in response to the COVID-19 public health emergency applied to toll the statute of limitations, the Superior Court determined that the statute of limitations began to run on July 13, 2017, and that the complaint, filed on April 7, 2022, was time-barred. *Id*.

In any event, since Appellants failed to present any evidence to establish the elements for the claim, the Superior Court granted summary judgment in favor of

PNC. The Superior Court reasoned,

[w]hile Plaintiffs allege that Johanna Schwartz established an account at PNC Bank, that initially "[n]o fee was charged for the account," and that at some point, "the terms...were amended to provide for a periodic service charge," Compl. ¶¶ 30-34, Plaintiffs have not produced evidence of any alleged contract, its terms, or the breach.

App., p. 26. The Superior Court further noted that Appellants did not address the

merits of Johanna Schwartz's breach of contract claim or provide any evidence in

support of the claim in their Opposition. Id.

In close, the Superior Court, explained,

[m]oreover, according to Ms. Loperfito's declaration, "[d]uring the relevant time period, standard checking account opening documents included a 'Consumer Schedule of Service Charges and Fees," Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 1 (Loperfits Decl.) ¶ 13, and "[n]otices regarding changes to fees or other charges and terms...are included on monthly statements" which are "typically provided at least thirty (30) days prior to implementation," *id.* ¶ 14.

As such, the Superior Court found that PNC had demonstrated entitlement to

summary judgment as to Johanna Schwartz's claim for breach of contract.

3. <u>Appellants Have Waived Review Of Johanna Schwartz's</u> <u>Breach Of Contract Claim</u>

In their Brief, as they did below, Appellants address only the statute of limitations on the breach of contract claim. Appellants' Br., p. 46. Thus, regardless of whether the Superior Court's calculation of the statute of limitations was correct, Appellants have waived any review on the merits of the entry of summary judgment. See Fells v. Service Emps. Int'l Union, 281 A.3d 572, 579 n.3 (D.C. 2002) (holding that appellant "waived" argument by failing to raise it "in his opening brief") (citing Stockard v. Moss, 706 A.2d 561, 566 (D.C. 1997)); see also Mahmood Nawaz v. Bloom Residential, LLC, 308 A.3d 1215, 1231-32 (D.C. 2024) ("In our adversarial system we rely on parties, particularly when they are represented by counsel, to preserve the arguments that may bring them relief and press them on appeal.") (citing Oparaugo v. Watts, 884 A.2d 63, 75 (D.C. 2005) (explaining that "[p]oints not raised and preserved in the trial court [generally] will not be considered on appeal"); Rose v. United States, 629 A.2d 526, 536-37 (D.C. 1993) ("It is a basic principle of appellate jurisprudence that points not urged on appeal are deemed to be waived.")).

In any event, under the standard of review, Johanna Schwartz was not permitted to rely on her pleadings alone, but she must have presented evidence to establish the prima facie elements of her claim. She utterly failed to do so. Johanna Schwartz did not produce the alleged contract, its terms, how it was breached, or evidence of her alleged damages. Rather, she produced one statement regarding the account, for the period 12/07/2017 to 03/06/2018. App., pp. 181, 199-202. On the record, the Superior Court properly granted summary judgment and this Court should affirm.

4. <u>The Superior Court Did Not Err In Dismissing The IIP's</u> <u>Breach Of Contract Claim</u>

Finally, putting aside whether a breach of contract claim of the IIP remained in the case following the Superior Court's Order granting in part the motion to dismiss, Appellants again failed to present evidence in support of the claim, or establish its timeliness. As PNC pointed out below, the IIP produced no documents in response to discovery to establish the contract, its breach, or damages. App., pp. 211, 225-26. Similarly, PNC conducted a search for a non-profit checking account in the name of the "International Internship Program, Inc." and no results or records were found. Id. Further, in answers to interrogatories, IIP swore under oath that it "[does] not know" the date the funds in the IIP's account escheated to the District of Columbia and "[does] not know" the date on which the IIP, or its United States Director, learned that the funds escheated to the District of Columbia. Id. As such, the IIP could not establish that its purported claim was filed within the applicable three-year statute of limitations.

In opposition, Appellants argued that they "alleged that through negligence and subsequently in violation of the Escheat Act [PNC] utilized an insufficient address to communicate with the [IIP] which resulted in the escheatment of the PNC funds in their account." App., p. 127. Appellants also attached two monthly statements for the non-profit account at issue (which were not produced in discovery), the most recent of which was for the period 09/29/2007 to 10/31/2007. App., pp. 103-06.⁵ To support their argument that the claim accrued "when the head of IIP discovered the breach of contract[,]" Appellants attached a "Statement of Material Facts" which included a statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of contract from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of contract from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of the statement from counsel that a statement from counsel that for the statement from counsel that a statement from counsel that for the statement from counsel the filling of this cause of action." App., pp. 128-29.

The Superior Court noted, as an initial matter, that Appellants "did not plead negligence in the Complaint; as such, there is no basis for any claim of negligence." App., p. 27; citing *Cf. Hall v. Admin. Office of the United States Courts*, 496 F. Supp. 2d 203, 207 n. 4 (D.D.C. 2007) ("It is axiomatic that a complaint may not be amended by the briefs in opposition" to a dispositive motion.) (citations omitted). Regarding the statute of limitations, the Superior Court found that the IIP could not establish that the claim was filed within the applicable three-year statute of limitations because it "admit[ted] that [it] "do[es] not know" when IIP, or its Director, learned that the funds escheated. *Id.*, pp. 27-28. Further, with respect to the contradictory statement by counsel that, "IIP discovered the breach of contract

⁵ Appellants also attached a monthly statement from 2008 for an IIP premium money market account which is not part of their claim, which is based on the non-profit account according to the complaint. App., pp. 107-08.

during a period no greater than a year before the filing of this cause of action" the Superior Court explained that it "failed to create a factual dispute insofar as it is a statement of counsel, which is not evidence. *See, e.g., Johnston v. Hundley*, 987 A.2d 1123, 1129 (D.C. 2010)." *Id.*, p. 28. Importantly, the Superior Court also noted that Appellants "ha[d] not supported this statement with any record or documentary evidence. *See Wallace*, 57 A.3d at 950-51 (the "party opposing summary judgment must set forth by affidavit or in similar sworn fashion *specific facts* showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.") (emphasis added)." *Id.* Finding that Appellants had not satisfied their burden to establish that there is an issue of material fact with respect to the statute of limitations, the Superior Court granted summary judgment in favor of PNC.

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